T

" IV. ARCHITECTURAL RESOURCES: DESCRIPTION AND EVALUATION

A, Introducﬁnn
Four archltecun'al resources were identified within the prOJect's area of potential effect along Route
+ 326 in the vicinity of Bridges 526 and 527. One of these, the Warren Mill (8-438), was a previonsly
. recorded resource listed in the National Register in 1978. According to the records of the Delaware
"' State Historic Preservation Office, none of the resources associated with the Warren Mil! had been
. ‘previously documented. - These resources may be considered as elements of a potentiai Nadonal
-+ Register Historic District associated with the Warren Mill (Figure 5). Two additional resources were
documented during this survey within the project area at the intersection of Routes 26 and 17 (Figure
.6). Ore of these, the C.J. Raubacher House (S-2478), had been previously surveyed. Records at the
Delaware State Historic Preservation Office revealed that another previously inventoried resource,
the F.S, Bennett House (S-2481), was loca:ted within the project area. It was discovered, however,
_ 'thattb.tsdwcﬂmgxsno longerextaBI(see sm-vey formmAppendle) E

B. lnterpretatmn

Both of the study areas are contained in the Lower Peninsula/Cypress Swamp Zone, defined in the |
Delaware State Historic Preservation Plan as containing about a third of the state dnd including
. Broadkiln, Indian River, Lewes and Rehoboth, Cedar Creck, Nanticoke River, Northwest Fork,
Seaford, Georgetown, Mispillion River; Broad Creek, Gumborough, Little Creek, Dagsborough, and - .
Baltimore hundreds. The natural environment of this zone is similar to the Upper Peninsuia Zone
- in that early historical descriptions of the area identified it as having been heavily forested. The
Nanticoke River is the main body of water flowing through the 2ome, which also contains countless
. smaller streams and ponds (Amcs et al.1989:35). .

All of the resources docmncmedmthmsmdydateto one contextual period, Urbamzahon and Early
Suburbanization 1880-1940% For the Lower. Peninsuia/Cypress Swamp Zone, this period is
characterized by profound change resulting from the advent of the automobile. This period saw the -
construction of the Route 13 corridor during the 1920s and the improvement of secondary roads to
accommodate automobile traffic. The travel times betweeh major commercial centers and the rural
" enclaves diminished and the population of towns increased as a result of the formation of new
residential and often racially segregated neighborhoods. - Also, the area as,a whole became less
" dependent upon agriculture, which had always dominated its economy (Ames et al. 1989:51). Based
on the preceding summary of their historical development, it was concluded that the study areas have
_ resources that potentially meet three context themes as defined by the Delaware Comprehensive
Historic Preservation Plan: Manufacturing; Agriculture; and Architecture, Engineering, and

'Decorahve Arts.
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1 Manufacﬂa-'z;ng
'I'hesuzdyamaatBndges 526and527contamsresom'ces assoc:atedmtha gnstmﬂlpropertytype '
refated to the manufacturing theme. Gristmills, and mills in general, often are more than just the mill

i

R buildings themsetves. They ofen include what is referred to as a “mill seat,” which would consist
of the mill building, power sources for the mill, and related outbuildings and roads. Includedin .

many mill seats are raceways through which a waterpowered scurce might flow, and dams that

- control the water flow which might power a mill. A mill seat could include several dams that are

. part of a system of mterconnected racewa}s and gates bmlt to power mﬂhng operauons (Hexte _
. 1992:5). -

2 Agncuitwe

Agnculunehas beena.dommantaspectofﬁw economymSmsex Comrtyfromxts mualsetﬂement
1o the present day. Dmmgthcsevemeenthandmghteenthcennm&s,submstenceagncmmezmhzed'
a mixed system with the cuItlvanonofwheat,In&ancom,ﬂax,and orchard and garden crops. A

. more market-oriented agriculture began to emerge in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries. The development of the railroads during the mid-nineteenth century opened up distant

markets to for the county’s agricultural goods and encouraged the development of a commercial
agricultural economy. As a result, many farmers expanded their orchards and vegetable fields. Non-

farm entrepreneurs also mvested capital toward acquiring large agricultural tracts which were farmed
by tenant farmers and laborers. Among the agricultural- relatedbmldmgsPotennaﬂyassoaatcdwrt.h

historic farm sites are bams, comcribs, chicken houses, granaries, smoke/meat houses, spnnghouses,
eamagc houses, stablu andmﬂkhnus&s (Bedell et al 1998 16).

"3 Arc]m’ecmre Engfneering. and Decorative Arts

- The Late Victorian era produced a variety of domestic architectural fashions derived from earlier
historical precedents, with considerable emphasis on asymmetrical forms and elaborate surface
treatments. At the “high” end, dwellings could manifest considerable attention to stylistic ornament,
" while at the broader “popular” end of the architectural spectrum, expression of style might consist
only of a token reference., The architecture of rural and semi-rural settings continued to be
characterized by folk-style dwellings again usually simple in form, such as an I-house, gable front,
- or gable-front and wing, Many very often had detailing inspired by Classical Revival, Italianate, or
Queen Amme stylm The primary areas for the application of this detailing were the main entrance,

porch, and comice line (McAlester and McAlester 1992:309). Throughout the Lower Peninsula/

Cyprws Swamp Zone, mmple farmhouses were detailed in this mAanner.

S Durmg the wrly twentieth century increase in the use of thc automobxle and greatly improved roads

. made possible the clear geographic separation of home and workplace, resuiting i the construction
of residences in areas heretofore almost entirely agncultural This process, which accelerated du:mg
the 1920s, was brought to a halt by econpmic depression and the war, only to resume at an ever-
]arger scale in the late 19405 and 1950s. Rather typxcally, in that penod of high labor costs, these
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k dwemngs exﬁib‘ited economies of floor space and exterior detail. Such houses,'taﬁned “Minimal-
- Traditional” by McAlester and McAlester (1992:477), constltuted, in effect, extremely stripped-

. down versions of Eclectic-Revival styles prevalent in previous decades, particularly the “Georgian”

or Classical Revival, “Cape,” and “Tudor.” The Garrison Colonial emerged during this era as a

.. subtype of the Colonial Revival style which featured a cantilevered second story. These small house

forms were in turn largely supplanted by even more stripped-down versions of the Ranch and Split
Level styles by the end of the 1960s (McAlester and McAlester 1992:338,481). -

" A gristmill property type under the. Architecture, Engineering, Decorative Arts theme would include
~ atwo- to three-story wood-frame mill usually with a waterwheel, turbine, or some other power
.-, system. ‘Waterpowered gristmills bave been historically well-constructed wood-frame buildings,
with a height of at least two stories necessary to support a waterwheel. In addition, these properties
may also include. mii]- tmces, dams, bridges, and other resources which have been historicaily
. assoclatedwnhmﬂlswts smcethebegmmngofEmo—Amcrmn settlement in Delaware. . Like many
' other transportation resources, bridges that have been historically associated with mill seats may -
", have been improved or replaced with highway mpmvemcm projects over the years. The
. proliferation of the automobile during the early twentieth century required the cmanonofnewroads,
improvement of existing roads, and more bridges. Bridge designs during the twentieth century often
used reinforced concrete. Use of concrete during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries -
frequently mimicked stone-arch structures. As engineers began to become more familiar with
working with concrete, they increasingly moved away from concrete-arch designs.. Concrete-slab
" bridges began to be designed for short spans (less than 30 feet long) in Delaware as early as 1910.
These bridge types were constructed in the state in g,wut numbers durmg the 1950s (A.G.

Lichtenstein andAssocmtes Inc. 1996)
C. RESOURCES IN THE BRIDGES 526 AND 527-PROJECT AREA o

- 'Warren Mill Historic District (S-9147)

Description: The Warren Mill Historic District is located along Route 326, on a small strctch of land
between Betts Pond and Millsboro Pond near the town of Millsboro. The district includes all of Tax
' Parcels 47 and 15, and is bounded on the south by Routes 326 and 82, Betts Pond and Tax Parcel
. 48 on the west, Tax Parcel 16.01 on the north, and the milroad right-of-way to the east (see Figure
*5). This site contains two parcels of land historically associated with the Warren family who have
owned the mill seat since the 1920s. The district encompasses the entire mill seat, including 1 the
mill, races, Warren House, and Bridges 526 and 527. This site has been an active milling center
since the mid-ei ghteem:h century, and presently contains four contributing architectural resources.

Warren Mill (S-438 and S-9147. 1)
Constructed 1929

" “Tax Parcel; 134-11-15
(Plates 1,2, and 3) .
(Survey Form in Appendlx A)
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Description: The Warren Mil] was cbnslmc‘tecii‘ in 1929 and is located on an dght—@ ﬁarcel “

.~ located on the north side of Route 326. Itisa 1%-story wood-frame gambrel-roof building

'with overhanging eaves and exposed rafter ends (Plate 1). It has a concrete-block foundation, -

- clapboard walls, and six-over-six, double-hung wood sash windows. The front (south)

elevation has three-shed roof dormers clad with wood shingles and containing six-light wood
wmdows. There are also two single-leaf wood doors on the first story. The gable ends contain
twin six-light wood windows, and there is a smg]e-lmf wood door on the south elevation. - The
north (rear) elevation has a two-over-two, as. well as six-over-six, double-hung, wood-sash
windows. A small front-gable vestibule also projects from the elevation, as does a postion of
 the concrete-block spillway on the west side of the elevation. The spillway was designed to
channel the water under the western half of the mill to power a steel turbine system located
within the building. The interior of the building consists of one undivided open space on each
. story and in the basement. Thebulldmgmvacant. Only a portion of the turbine system was
intact at the umcoftlus Survey. It mmfaucond1ﬁonbut1s detenoratmg rapldly

‘There aretwoombuﬂmngsassocxatedmththemﬂ (Plates 2 and3) Oneisa 1'/a-storybém
constructed in 1930 which was used by the Warren family to house its chickens and small herd
of cattle (Roland Warren, personal cornmumication 1999). It is located about 35 feet north of
the mill and has a poured-concrete foundation, clapboard walis and an asphalt-shingle—clad
gambrel roof with overhanging eaves and exposed rafter ends. The windows are two-over-two,
double-hung wood sash and three- and two-light wood windows. The building is now used
only for storage and is in very poor condition with much of its wood exterior and windows
rotting. A wood-frame garage is located about 15 feet south of the mill and was ‘also
constructed circa 1930. It is a one-story building with a concrete-block foundation, clapboard
walls, and an asphait-shingle-clad frunt-gable roof. The buﬂdmg is in fair condition.

Warren House (Old Granary) (S-9147.2)
Tax Parcel: 134-11-15
Constructed Circa 1920
(Plates 4 and 5)
(Survey Form in Appendn A)

Description: The Warren House, constructed circa 1920 is situated on'a 1.45-acre tract on the
south side of Route 326 (Plate 4). It is a 1%4-story, wood-frame building with a concrete-block
foundation, asbestos-shingie—clad exterior walls, interior brick chimney, and an asphalt-
shingle—clad, side-gable roof. The windows are two-over-two and one-over-one, double-hung
wood units. The north (front) elevation has a shed-roof porch with two wood past supports,

and a full-width, shed-roof dormer with three sets of paired, one-over-one, double-hung wood
windows. A lean-to addition projects from the south (rear) elevation and a hipped roof

addition projects from thc east elevation. _
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" The dweiling a]én has a one-story, WOod-ﬁame dutlfuﬂding, consu'ucted circa 1930. Tt has |

.. - clapboard walls, a corrugated-metai—clad, side-gable roof, and six-over-six, double-tumg wood

* sash units. There is a lean-to baypmjecungﬁ'om ﬁewwtmdcofthebuﬂdmg whlchlsmfw
condition.

) Accordmgtothehouse splmentowner, Roland Warren, the dwelhngwas ongmally a granaxy
. associated with a previous gristmill on the property that burnt in 1923. The bmldmg was
convertexd. mto a dwelling aromd 1930 and was used by the Warren family, . .

Bndge 526 (&9147.3)

. Constructed 1935 '
“(Plate 6) LT

(Survey Form in Append:x A)

Desmpnon. Bndge 526 constmctedcn'caIQBS cames Route 326 overamﬂltacethatﬂows
' undm‘theWmenMil],lomdonthenorthmdeofthemad(Plates) Tt is a timber and
- concrete culvert with concrete abutments. ‘The structure is 10 feet long and 30 feet wide. It
. also had a timber deck covered with an asphalt wearing surface all on top of the timber frame
. and concrete superstructure. Wood railings are attached to the deck. A timber spill-gate has
been constructed on the south elevation of the structure which controls the flow of water from
Betts Pond, located southeast of the mill seat. The structure extends underneath both Route
326 and the Warren Mill, located on the north side of the road, eventually ending at a second
spillway. This spiliway, located on the north side of the mill, has concrete walls which channel
th.ewaterﬂomngﬁ'omthspoudandtmderthsmadandmﬂlmasmallstreamthatempﬂesmto

Mxllsboro Pond.’ 'Ihe structure is in good condition.

: Accordmg to local property owner Ralph Warren, hlS father, Wilford Warren, constructed a
timber bridge at this site around the mid-1930s. DelDOT currently maintains the structure.
Their bridge maintepance records reveal that the current bridge has a timber frame
superstructure at the end facing Betts Pond, with a standard poured reinforced concrete box
culvert section added to the north side of the timber structure. The reinforced concrete portion
of the structure extends under the Warren Mill and the porth side of Route 326. Research at
' the DelDOT archives in Dover failed to uncover any information concerning the origins of the
structure, ot if DelDOT had reconstructed part of the bridge by addmgthe reinforced concrete
section. However, highway improvement plans from. 1956 describe major road improvements,
involving road widening and grading improvements, to portions of Routes 326 and 82, as well
as other sections of local roads within the Millsboro vicinity. This activity suggests a major
DelDOT initiative to upgrade local roads near Millsboro. It is possible that the section of -
Route 326 containing Bridge 526 was improved as part of some related but unrecorded project
occurring within the same time period, Such a project would have required the widening of
the culverts and the addition of the reinforced concrete portion to Bridge 526.



 Bridge 527 (S-9147.4)
Constructed 1935 -

(Plate 7) -
- (Survey Form in Appendn A)

Description: Bndge 527 carries Route 326 over a small spl]]way Ieadmg from Betts Pond.
~ (Plate 6). It is a single-span, concrete-slab and timber culvert stricture with concrete’
" -abutments and two U-shaped concrete Wingwallsoniti north elevation. The structureis 11.1

feet long with a clear width of 40.1 feet. ‘A wooden-timber portion is located on the south side
of the structure at the end of an intake channel kined with wood-timber wails which allows
water to flow from Betts Pond to the bridge. A timber railing is located along the south end
of the structiire along with a wooden gate located below the bridge which restricts the flow of
. water into the spiltway to the north. The timber frame portion of the bridge faces Betts Pond.
* The concrete-slab section is attached to the north side of the wood-timber structure and has W-
'beammetalguardraﬂsattachedtothenorthendofthe structure. 'Ihestructurcxsmgood

condmon.

, Accordmg to local property owner Ralph War.ren, his fathm' Wilford Watren, constructed a -
- timber bridge at this site around the mid-1930s. Like ‘Bridge 526, DelDQOT maintains the -
structure, andthmrbndgcmmntcnanccrecordsrevealthatthccurrentbndgehasanmber
frame superstructure at the south end facing Betts Pond with a poured reinforced concrete
section on the north end of the structure. Based upon Ralph Warren’s testimony, a portion of
the current structure more than likely contains the timber bridge his father constructed with a
- concrete box culvert improvement added during the same project involving the same

. . improvements to Bridge 526. ' .

Applicable Historic Context: Laower Pemﬁsula/(}ypress Swamp Zone, Urbenization and Early
Suburbanization 1380-1940+. Mam:facunmg and Architecture, Engineering, and Decorative Arts—

Mill Seat.

Evaluation: The Wan'en Mill wias listed in the National Register in 1978. This project study for
DelDOT finds that the mill, Warren House, and Bridges 526 and 527 colléctively form & historic

" district meeting National Register Criterion C, and also Criterion A. It derives its significance under
* Criterion C, as it is the only known gambrel-roofed mill in lower Delaware.

The Warren Mill site has been associated with milling since Benjamin Burton constructed the first
known mill at this site in 1773. Since that time, at least three mills have been situated at or near
where the Warren Miil is located today. A survey map from 1840 also notes the location of at least
one oﬁamﬂﬂﬁeﬂonds@mlmdingﬁomBeﬁsPondtoMiﬂstro Pond, which is fed by the .
‘spillway which Bridge 527 crosses and is located west of the Warren Mill. The Warren Mill,
~ constructed in 1929, mthelastsuchmdusmalbmldmgerectedontheproperty Wilford Warren not
" only erected the mill, but according to his sons Roland and Ralph Warren, he aiso converted a
granary assocxated with aarhermﬂls into the Wamren family home and constructed Bridges 526 and
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'Sﬂmd&massummdwatﬂ-comlfemm BndgeﬁZGwmbwovermmsungwaterchmcl

" on which the mill was situated and which emptied into Millsboro Pond. The culvert structure was
+ built as en improvement for the mill to regulate the water flow that powered the niiil until it ceased
. operations after World WarIL Bridge 527 also was a gated structure which controlied the flow of
o mtu&omBeﬂsPondmmasecondmychmneLwdumngthenskofﬂmdmg(RalphWanen,
personal communication 1999). Therefore, the Warren Mill, Warren house, and two culverts are all
interrelated as contributing architectural resources-in a distinct district associated with contirined
~ milling activities along Betts Pond during the early twentisth century. Because the structures within

o 'ﬁe&Mﬁaﬂm@iﬁn&mmdegmmﬂmmdewdopmmnofmﬂhngmm

- Jocation since 1773, the district meets Criterion A for local historical significance.. The district

*" boundaries shouldmcludeallome'cel 15, currently owned by the Warren family and located on

. both sides of Route 326. This parcel includes all of the contributing architectiral resources in
- addition to two millraces at which Bridges 526 and 527 have been constructed. Historical maps

o dmngﬁomlmmd:omﬁmﬁhmammﬂyusommdwnhmﬂmgmwame

In addition, archaeological resources associated with carlier milling activities may potentially be

present near the headwaters of these races. An 1840 survey map shows that there was a second mill
at the westernrnost race, near where Bridge 527 is presently located. In addition, the current property
owner, Ralph Warren, reports finding many artifacts that might be associated with a mill at this .
location including metal bolts and a long heavy timber; One can not entirely rule out the possibility -
' gfﬁndin?garchaeologiwlmmainsofaddiﬁonalmﬂhsihlmdonﬂ:eothcrrace,wh:'retheWa:rcn
Ml is located today. It is known that at least two or three other mills have operated at this location,
",bmnmsuﬂmwhﬁhamcywmaﬂhmdatpmmsely&emspotumepmmdzy

.Wm:nMilL .

- D RESOURCES IN THE ROUTES 26 AND 17 PROJECT A.REA

CJl. Ranbacher Honse (5-24‘78)

North side of Route 26
" Constructed Circa 1918
Tax Parcel 1-34-12-3 05 (Plates 8 and 9)

» Ducnphon' The C.J. Rmxbacher House, constructed circa 1918, is a 2/4-story four-square dwelling
with a concrete-blotk foundation, interior brick chimney, asbestos-shingle—clad walls, and an
" asphalt-shingle—clad hipped roof with boxed eaves (Plate 7). The windows are four-over-one,
double-hung wood-sash units. The south (front) elevation has a hipped dormer with a four-light and
- a one-light wood window, and an enclosed one-story hipped porch with two-ovet-two, double-hung
~ wood sash windows and a two-light wood-paneled door. The west elevation has a one-story, hipped
‘oof bay projects and 2 single-leaf three-light wood-paneled door on the main biock. A one-story
. front-gable addition projects from the north elevation. It has a concrete-block foundation, wood-
paneledwalls., andonltswmtmde manme-hghtpaneled wood door on: a wood staop. The house

. is in fair condition. ‘ , . L



.Tmmoc%dagnmhmlouﬁrﬂ&ngmhcﬂedaboﬂﬁfeﬂmr&wmofmedmﬂmg(?hﬁ
8). Oue is a one-story barn 'set on concrete blocks constructed circa 1918. It is a wood-frame

 "building clad with alominum siding ‘and hes an asphalt-shingle~clad, from-gable roof with

‘oveﬂ:angmgcavmandcxposedraﬁermds A one-story, front-gable outbuilding is located about o

one foot west of the bamn. The building, also constructed circa 1918, is smaller in scale than the bam
and is also set on concrete blocks. it is a wood-frame building with clapboard walls and #n asphalt-
shingle-clzad front-gable roof with overhanging eaves and exposed rafter ends, A lean-to bay
'projectsﬁ'omthzwatmdeofﬂ:ebmldmg. BoﬂlofﬂleombuﬂdmgsmmfmmoDde.

' Apphcab}a Hj‘stom ‘Context: Upper Peninsula Zone, Urbammtmn and-Early Subm'ba.mzatmn :
- 1880-1940:l:. Agucultm'e and Amhxtectm'e Engmeenng, md Decoranve Arts Four-square

Evalnaﬁon TthJ RmxbacherHousemlocatedona 465-acreu'actonﬂzemrﬂmdc ofRoute26

-atnsm-secuonmﬂ:Rouhcl‘i The dwelling, constructed during the early twentieth éentury, first
appearsonalQISUSGStopographcqu&dlmgle Its outbuildings suggest that the property was -

- originally used as a farm. The C.J. Ranbacher House does not appear to meet criteria for listing in . -

the Nitional Register of Historic Places. The property is not associated with an event or individual
important to history, and as such does not appear to meet Criterion A or B. The complex as a whole

doanﬂa:h’bnchmcmmcsofamiytwenheﬂwmydomesucoragrmmwmmmof L

sufficient i mportanoe to mest Critedion C.

Shore Dal Auto Property (S-9148)
North side of Route 26 :
Conastructed Cirea 1930

Tax Parcel 1-34-12-3 (Plate 10)
(Survey form in Appendix A)

Desu'lpt:on. TthhoreDealAmoPmpertyulomwdonal 48-acmtract on the riorth mdeofRow:e

""" 26 at Hs intersection with Route 17. Thz propérty contains one building: It is a ene-story, wood-

frame vemamﬂarcommcrmalbmldmgconsﬁmﬁedmml%ﬂwhmhmmmenﬂyusedasacar

dealership. Late twentieth-century vertical wood paneling conceals the foundation. The asphait-
shingle~clad, front-gable roof is slightly canﬁ]eve:edoverﬂ:esouﬂl(ﬁ'ont)elevanon. The windows,

" original to the building, are four-over-one, double-hung wood sash units. The south (front) elevation
has paired windows flanking a single-leaf paneled wood door. There is an exterior chimney on the
east elevation, and a hipped roof bay projects from the north (rear) efevation. A wooden commercial

_s:gnhasbeenaddedatopﬂacroof Thebuxldmgmmgoodcondxtmn.

Apphcable Hlstonc Context: Upper Peninsula Zone, Urbammtmn and Early Submbamzaﬁon
1880-1940+, Commerce and Architecture, Engineering, and Decorative Arts - Front-gable property
type. : o o : _



o EvdMomAmo@ngmﬁemmemrof“SMRDmlAm”whommepmperw thebuﬂdmg'

is about 60 to 70 years old. It wis originally used as a gas station, later as a restaurant and bar and

.- a liquor store (Edwards, personal connmunication 1999). The building does not appear to meet

_ criteria for listing in the National Register of Historic Places. The property is not associated with
. an event or individual important to national, statz, or local histary, and therefore, is not eligible under
Criterion A or B. Thebmldmgnsalsoanund:suncuwmmpleofanemiytwmhethmcnhry
commemal buﬂdmgwhmhlacksdcmonsbuble sxgmﬁcance to meet Criterion C. .



PLATE 2: Warren Ml {S-438 and $-9147.1}, Barn, Northwest View
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PLATE 4: Warren House (8-9147.2), North Hevation, Southeast View
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PLATE 6: Bridge 526 (5-9147.3], Sauth Elevation, Northeast View
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PLATE 7: Bridge 527 {S-9147.4), North Elevation, South View -

South and Waest Elevations, Northeast View

C.J. Raubacher House (5-2478}.

PLATE 8
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. . .

PLATE 8: C.J. Raubacher House {S-2478), Outhuildings, Northwest View

PLATE 10: Shore Deal Auto Property {S-9148], South and East Elsvations, Northwest View
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